IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Gregory Valentine, :

Petitioner, :

v. : CASE NO. 96,502

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

DAVID A. HALLMAN
FLA. BAR NO. 0825794
ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER
POST OFFICE BOX 1159
CHIEFLAND, FLORIDA 32344
(850) 414-5367

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the early hours of March 2, 1997, during a birthday party in rural Dixie County, a fight started. According to State witness/alleged victim Hubbel Herring, the fight started between two (2) men named Jamie Corbin and Danny Watson. (Trial transcript, Vol. I, page 120) Mr. Herring then involved himself in the fight. (Trial transcript, Vol. I, page 120-121) At that point, Defendant/Appellant Greg Valentine interjected himself between Herring and the others and said, "You're not double teaming my cousin." (Trial transcript, Vol. I, page 120-121) Valentine is alleged to have made physical contact with Herring at this point. Some time passed, the amount of time being in dispute. transcript, Vol. I, page 121; Trial Transcript, Vol. II, pages 247, 273-276) Fighting either continued or restarted, and state witnesses testified that Greq Valentine, wearing boots, kicked Hubbel Herring in the head.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Valentine was charged with aggravated battery with a deadly weapon, to wit: his boots. (Trial transcript, Vol. I, page 1) A jury trial was held. At trial, the state was permitted, over defense objection, to adduce testimony regarding the nature of Herring's injuries. (Trial transcript, Vol. I, pages 123-125)

The trial court refused to give two (2) jury instructions requested by the Defense. First, the trial court refused to give an instruction on self-defense or defense of others. (Trial transcript, Vol. II, pages 338-339) The trial court also refused to give an instruction, requested by the defense, that would have clarified for the jury that, in order to convict, they must conclude that the Defendant's boots were a deadly weapon. (Trial transcript, Vol. II, pages 340-342)

The Defendant was convicted and sentenced to fifty-four (54) months in the State of Florida Department of Corrections. (Record, Vol.I, page 76) His sentence was calculated based upon the sentencing guidelines, as amended by Laws of Florida, Chapter 95-184. (Record, Vol. I, page 61) An appeal followed. (Record, Vol. I, page 76) Mr. Valentine filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (R:Vol. I)

I, 142, 203).

On appeal before the District Court of Appeal, First District, petitioner advanced four arguments: (1) whether the trial court erred when it denied the defense's requested standard jury instruction on self-defense/defense of other; (2) whether the trial court erred in refusing to give the requested instruction which made clear that in order to convict, the jury must determine that the defendant's footwear was a deadly weapon; (3) whether the trial court erred in permitting the state to introduce evidence of injuries in this matter, where the injuries did not constitute serious bodily harm; and (4) whether the 1995 version of the sentencing guidelines is unconstitutional for violation of the single subject rule of the Florida Constitution. The District Court rejected the first three issues without elaboration. As to the latter issue, the District Court certified the following question as one of great public importance:

WHETHER CHAPTER 95-184 VIOLATES ARTICLE III, SECTION 6 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

<u>Valentine v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1878 (Fla. 1st DCA August 10, 1999).

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Valentine was improperly sentenced using the 1995 sentencing quidelines scoresheet.

The 1995 scoresheet was created by Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida. This law violates the constitutional prohibition against multiple subject laws. Art. III, § 6, Fla. Const.

The law contains 35 sections dealing with the subject of criminal sentencing and penalties. The law then turns to the completely separate subject of civil remedies for domestic violence injunction violations in sections 36-38.

A similar statute, Chapter 95-182, has been held unconstitutional [for violating the single subject requirement] by the Second District. Thompson v. State, 708 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998).

As this Court should find Chapter 95-184 to also be unconstitutional, Mr. Valentine respectfully requests this Court remand his case for resentencing under the 1994 guidelines scoresheet.

V. ARGUMENT

THE 1995 CRIMINAL GUIDELINES SCORESHEET PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 95-184 ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE THE STATUTE THAT CREATED THEM VIOLATED THE STATE CONSTITUTIONAL SINGLE SUBJECT PROVISION

The district court, in the case below, <u>Valentine v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, as well as <u>Trapp v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, certified the following issue to the Court:

WHETHER CHAPTER 95-184 VIOLATES ARTICLE III, SECTION 6 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

(A:2). Petitioner requests the Court to answer this question "yes."

A. STANDING.

Mr.Valentine's substantive crime was committed on March 2, 1997.² Mr.Valentine was convicted and sentenced using the guidelines scoresheet which went into effect October 1, 1995 as a result of significant changes enacted by Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida. Under the 1995 guidelines scoresheet, Mr.Valentine's incarceration range spanned from 52 months to 65 months. (R:Vol I, 62). He received a guidelines sentence of 54 months in the

²Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida became effective on October 1, 1995. Chapter 97-97 reenacted the 1995 amendments contained in 95-184 effective May 24, 1997. See State v. Johnson, 616 So.2d 1, 2 (Fla. 1993)("Once reenacted as a portion of the Florida Statutes, a chapter law is no longer subject to challenge on the grounds that it violates the single subject requirement of Article III, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution.").

Department of Corrections.

However, had the 1994 guidelines scoresheet been used, Mr. Valentine's incarceration range would have spanned from 38 months to 51 months. The difference in maximums (assuming the trial court would still impose the maximum) is almost a year incarceration.

Because Mr.Valentine was specifically and adversely affected as a result of the amendments made in Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida, he has standing to challenge the statute. See generally 10 Fla. Jur. 2d, Constitutional Law §§ 73-74 (courts will go no farther than they have to in declaring a legislative act invalid, and litigants can challenge the constitutionality of statutes only to the extent they are adversely affected by them).

B. PRESERVATION.

No objection was raised at the trial level. Further, Mr. Valentine is raising a facial challenge to Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida. Still, this issue is one of fundamental error. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993)(holding the error to be fundamental where the defendant's punishment was enhanced as a result of the unconstitutional chapter law).

Chapter 95-184 violates the single subject requirement because it addresses two distinct subjects: career criminal sentencing and civil remedies for domestic violence injunctions.

C. MERITS.

I. The Single Subject Requirement

Article III, section 6 of the Florida Constitution provides:

Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title.

This provision serves three purposes:

(1) to prevent hodge podge or "log rolling" legislation, i.e., putting to unrelated matters in one act; (2) to prevent surprise or fraud by means of provisions in bills of which the titles gave no intimation, and which might therefore be overlooked and carelessly and unintentionally adopted; and (3) to fairly apprise the people of the subjects of legislation that are being considered, in order that they may have opportunity of being heard thereon.

<u>State v. Canova</u>, 94 So.2d 181, 184 (Fla. 1957)(emphasis added).

It has oft been said that "[t]he subject of a law is that which is expressed in the title, ... and it may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided the matters included in the law have a natural or logical connection." <u>State v. Lee</u>, 356 So.2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978)(citation and internal quotes omitted).

However, this statement should not be read too literally. As will be discussed below, an enormously broad topic will not necessarily be considered a "single subject" merely because the

legislature endows it with a consuming title. Instead, courts have an obligation to insure that legislative "subjects" do not expand to such abstract and amorphous levels that Article III, section 6 is rendered ineffectual. See, e.g.'s, Bunnell v. State, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1984), quashing, State v. Bunnell, 447 So.2d 228 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); Williams v. State, 459 So.2d 319 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

Thus, in recent cases (discussed below), such titles as "the criminal justice system", "comprehensive economic development", and "environmental resources" have been held to be too broad as to be considered a single subject. See, e.g.'s, Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 1991); Alachua County v. Florida Petroleum Marketers, 589 So.2d 240 (Fla. 1991); State v. Leavins, 599 So.2d 1326 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

This, of course, is only common sense. If it were otherwise, the legislature could simply assert that the "subject" of a particular statute is something like "the public health, safety, and welfare". By titling the act as such, the legislature could then combine a wide range of topics under this broad "subject". However, this is exactly the evil guarded against by the single subject provision of the Florida Constitution.

Further, "[w]hen the subject expressed in the title is restricted, only those provisions that are fairly included in such

restricted subject and matter properly connected therewith can legally be incorporated in the body of the act, even though other provisions besides those contained in the act could have been included in one act having a single broader subject expressed in its title." Ex Parte Knight, 52 Fla. 144, 146, 41 So. 786, 788 (Fla. 1906). Thus, although the title "need [not] embrace every detail of the subject matter ... the propositions embraced in the act shall be fairly and naturally germane to that recited in the title." Boyer v. Black, 154 Fla. 723, 724, 18 So.2d 886, 887 (Fla. 1944).

"[T]he test of duplicity of subject is whether or not the provisions of the bill are designed to accomplish separate and disassociated objects of legislative effort." State v. Thompson, 120 Fla. 860, 892-893, 163 So. 270, 283 (Fla. 1935). This test "is based on common sense [and it] requires examining the act to determine if the provisions 'are fairly and naturally germane to the subject of the act, or are such as are necessary incidents to or tend to make effective or promote the objects and purposes of legislation included in the subject'...." Smith v. Department of Insurance, 507 So. 2d 1080, 1087 (Fla. 1987)(citing State v. Canova, supra).

A case very close on point comes from the Second District

Court of Appeal. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. In <u>Thompson</u>, the defendant was sentenced as a violent career criminal for crimes that occurred on November 16, 1995. She challenged her sentence on grounds that Chapter 95-182, Laws of Florida violated the single subject requirement found in Article III, section 6 of the Florida Constitution. <u>Id</u>.

Reversing her sentence, the court agreed that Chapter 95-182 encompassed more than one subject. The court found that sections 1 through 7 of the chapter dealt with violent career criminal sentencing and penalties. The court further found that sections 8 through 10 dealt with civil aspects of domestic violence. 3 Id.

The court then analyzed the legislative history:

The legislative history shows that sections 8 through 10 of chapter 95-182 began as three the House of Representatives. Proposed committee substitute for House Bill 1251 dealt principally with the duties of the clerk and the sheriff in the processing and execution of injunctions for protection. Proposed committee substitute for House Bill 1789, filed on behalf of the Governor's Task Force on Domestic Violence, encompassed a laundry list of recommendations found in the January 19 report of the Task Force, including matters relating to the duty of the clerk. House Bill 2513 provided for civil remedies to victims of domestic violence. Each of these

³Compare Chapter 95-182 §§ 8-10 with Chapter 95-184 §§ 36-38. Both groups of sections incorporate the same language dealing with civil remedies for domestic violence.

bills died in committee. ... The substance of these failed bills was engrafted on several Senate bills, including committee substitute for Senate Bill 168 (the Gort Act), and thereby became law. It is in circumstances such as these that problems with the single subject rule are most likely to occur.

Id. (emphasis added).

The <u>Thompson</u>, court found that criminal sentencing and domestic violence civil remedies had no "natural or logical connection." <u>Id</u>. In holding the statute unconstitutional for violating the single subject requirement, the court stated that the two subjects were completely separate and were not intended to accomplish a greater single objective.⁴ <u>Id</u>.

This Court has addressed the meaning of the single subject provision on several occasions in recent years. Three of those cases involved criminal statutes: Bunnell v. State, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1984); Burch v. State, 558 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1990); and Johnson v. State, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993). Bunnell and Johnson held that the statutes at issue violated the single subject provision while Burch rejected that challenge. These cases were relied upon by the Second District in reaching its holding in Thompson, supra. They

⁴See also <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 709 So.2d 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 709 So.2d 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). <u>Contra Higgs v. State</u>, 695 So.2d 872 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)(summary conclusion that a "reasonable and rational relationship" existed between all sections of Chapter 95-182).

establish the framework for analysis in the present case. Further, under that framework, Chapter 95-184 is invalid.

In Bunnell, the Court considered the validity of Chapter 82-150, Laws of Florida. That chapter contained three substantive Section one created a new offense of obstruction by false information. 5 Sections two and three made several amendments to Sections 23.15-.154, Florida Statutes (1981). Those sections concerned the membership of the "Florida Council on Criminal Justice", which, at the time, was an advisory board composed of various officials involved in the criminal justice system. Second District upheld Chapter 82-150 against a single subject <u>State v. Bunnell</u>, 447 So.2d 228 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), attack. quashed, Bunnell, supra. That court found "the general subject of the act to be the 'Criminal Justice System'". Id. at 231. court then concluded that Chapter 82-150 did not violate the single subject requirement because the sections of the statute "have a natural and logical connection to the general subject and to each other":

The Florida Council on Criminal Justice is an executive branch advisory agency under the jurisdiction of the governor created to advise the governor, legislature, supreme

 $^{^{5}\}text{Codified}$ at section 843.035, Florida Statutes (1982 Suppp.).

court, and especially the Bureau of Criminal Justice Assistance in the performance of its Chapter 23 duties, as to the improvement of state law enforcement activities and the administration of criminal and juvenile justice systems....

Upon examination, it is readily apparent that the council and laws relating to the council are embraced by the admittedly broad subject "Criminal Justice System"

Furthermore, it is clearly apparent that section 843.[035], the crime of obstruction of justice by giving false information, is also embraced within the same general subject impliedly set forth by the legislature....

<u>Id</u>. (citation and internal quotes omitted).

The Fifth District disagreed and held Chapter 82-150 violated the single subject provision. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 459 So.2d 319 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). Although recognizing that the provision should be "interpreted ... liberally", particularly when dealing with "very comprehensive law revisions", <u>id</u>. at 320, the court nonetheless found 82-150 to be invalid:

The bill in question in this case is not a comprehensive law or code type of statute. It is very simply a law that contains two different subjects or matters. One section creates a new crime and the other section amends the operation and membership of the Florida Criminal Justice Council. The general object of both may be to improve the criminal justice system, but that does not make them both related to the same subject matter.

The <u>Bunnell</u> court reasoned that although not expressed in the title, it could infer from the provisions of the bill, a general subject, the criminal justice system, which

was germane to both sections. Even if that subject was expressed, for example, in a title reading "Bill to Improve Criminal Justice in Florida," we think this is the object and not the subject of the provisions. Further, approving such a general subject for a non-comprehensive law would write completely out of the constitution the anti-logrolling provision of article III, section 6.

... [T]he general objective of the legislative act should not serve as an umbrella subject for different substantive matters.

<u>Id</u>. at 321 (footnote and citations omitted)(emphasis added).

Taking jurisdiction in <u>Bunnell</u>, this Court had no trouble concluding that this statute was invalid because it embraced more than one subject. The Court asserted "the subject of section 1 has no cogent relationship with the subject of sections 2 and 3 and ... the object of section 1 is separate and disassociated from the objects of sections 2 and 3." 453 So.2d at 809.

In <u>Burch</u>, the Court upheld the validity of Chapter 87-243, Laws of Florida against a single subject attack. The Court reasoned as follows:

In the preamble to chapter 87-243, the legislature explained the reasons for the legislation:

WHEREAS, Florida is facing a crisis of dramatic proportions due to a rapidly increasing crime rate, which crises demands urgent and creative remedial action, and

WHEREAS, Florida's crime rate crisis affects, and is affected by, numerous social, educational, economic, demographic, and geographic factors, and

WHEREAS, the crime rate crisis throughout the state has which ramifications reach far beyond the confines of the traditional criminal justice system and cause deterioration businesses, disintegration of schools, communities, and families, and

WHEREAS, the Joint Executive/ Legislative Task Force on Drug Abuse and Prevention strongly recommends legislation to combat Florida's substance abuse and crime problems, and asserts that the crime rate crisis must be the highest priority of every department of government within the state whose functions touch upon the issue, so that a comprehensive battle can be waged against this most insidious enemy, and

WHEREAS, this crucial battle requires a major commitment of resources and a nonpartisan, nonpolitical, cohesive, well-planned approach, and

it is imperative WHEREAS, utilize a proactive stance in order provide comprehensive systematic legislation to address Florida's crime rate crisis, focusing on crime prevention, throughout the social strata of the state, and

WHEREAS, in striving to eliminate the fragmentation, duplication, and poor planning which would doom this fight against crime, it is necessary to coordinate all efforts toward a unified attack on the common enemy, crime ...

To accomplish this purpose, chapter 87deals with three basic areas: (1)comprehensive criminal regulations and procedures, (2) money laundering, and (3) safe neighborhoods. Each of these areas bear a logical relationship to the single subject of controlling crime, whether by providing for imprisonment or through taking away the profits of crime and promoting education and safe neighborhoods. The fact that several different statutes are amended does not mean that more than one subject is involved. is nothing in this act to suggest the presence of log rolling, which is the evil that article III, section 6, is intended to prevent. would have been it awkward unreasonable to attempt to enact many of the provisions of this act in separate legislation.

558 So.2d at 2-3.

The Court further noted that more diverse subject matter had been approved in spite of similar constitutional challenges. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.'s</u>, <u>State v. Lee</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Chenoweth v. Kemp</u>, 396 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1981); <u>Smith</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The Court distinguished <u>Bunnell</u>:

In <u>Bunnell</u>, this Court addressed chapter

⁶These three cases will be discussed further below.

82-150, Laws of Florida, which contained two separate topics: the creation of a statute prohibiting the obstruction of justice by false information and the reduction in the membership of the Florida Criminal Justice Council. The relationship between these two subjects was so tenuous that this Court concluded that the single-subject provision of the constitution had been violated. Unlike Bunnell, chapter 87-243 is a comprehensive law in which all of its parts are directed toward meeting the crisis of increased crime.

<u>Id</u>. at 3.

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