IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GREGORY W. VALENTINE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 96,502

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

L. MICHAEL BILLMEIER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0983802

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Gregory W. Valentine, the Appellant in the district court and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

The record on appeal consists of three volumes. This brief will refer to a volume according to its respective designation within the Index to the Record on Appeal. A citation to a volume will be followed by any appropriate page number within the volume. "IB" will designate Petitioner's Initial Brief, followed by any appropriate page number.

CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

Counsel certifies that this brief was typed using Courier New 12.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner's statement of the facts summarizes Petitioner's view of the trial testimony. (IB 3). Since the only issue raised on this appeal is the constitutionality of the sentencing statute, the events leading to Petitioner's conviction are largely irrelevant and Petitioner's account should be rejected. The only relevant facts from Petitioner's trial are that

Petitioner was convicted of aggravated battery for events occurring on March 2, 1997. (I, 1-2, 48-52).

The opinion of the First District is attached as an Appendix.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida. He committed his crime on March 2, 1997. Chapter 96-388, Laws of Florida, which reenacted the provisions of the sentencing guidelines relevant to Petitioner's crime, became effective on October 1, 1996. Since Petitioner committed his crime after the effective date of Chapter 96-388, his sentence is governed by that chapter and that chapter does not violate the single subject requirement. Further, Chapter 95-184 does not violate the single subject requirement because a reasonable and rational relationship exists between all sections of the act. The opinion of the District Court affirming Petitioner's sentence should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER PETITIONER HAS STANDING TO CONTEST THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF CHAPTER 95-184, LAWS OF FLORIDA AND, IF SO, WHETHER CHAPTER 95-184, LAWS OF FLORIDA VIOLATES THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION? (Restated)

Petitioner lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida. He committed his crime on March 2, 1997. Chapter 96-388, Laws of Florida, which reenacted the provisions of the sentencing guidelines relevant to Petitioner's crime, became effective on October 1, 1996. Since Petitioner committed his crime after the effective date of Chapter 96-388, his sentence is governed by that chapter and that chapter does not violate the single subject requirement. Further, Chapter 95-184 does not violate the single subject requirement. The opinion of the District Court affirming Petitioner's sentence should be affirmed.

I. Relevant History of the Sentencing Guidelines

Petitioner was convicted of aggravated battery for a fight that occurred on March 2, 1997. Pursuant to section 921.0014, Florida Statutes (1993), aggravated battery was a level 7 offense that scored 42 points. Chapter 95-184, § 6, Laws of Florida, amended section 921.0014, Florida Statutes, and increased the guidelines points for level 7 offenses to 56. Chapter 96-388, § 53, Laws of Florida, effective October 1, 1996, amended portions of section 921.0014 but did not alter the points scored for aggravated battery.

II. Standing

Petitioner claims that he was sentenced pursuant to the sentencing guidelines, reenacted under Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida. (IB 7). Petitioner committed his crime on March 2, 1997. (I, 1-2; IB 7). Therefore, the State submits that the version of the guidelines relevant to Petitioner were reenacted in Chapter 96-388, Laws of Florida and became effective October 1, 1996. Any single subject infirmity in Chapter 95-184 was cured when the Legislature reenacted section 921.0014, Florida Statutes (1995), by passing chapter 96-388, § 53, effective October 1, 1996. This reenactment and amendment superseded § 921.0014, Florida Statutes (1995) and closed the window under which the changes in the sentencing guidelines, enacted by Chapter 95-184, could be challenged as violating the single subject rule. Ordinarily, this window would not have closed until May 24, 1997 with the two-year reenactment of Florida Statutes. Because Petitioner's offense occurred on March 2, 1997, over five months after the reenactment and amendment by Chapter 96-388, Petitioner does not have standing to contest the constitutionality of Chapter 95-184. Only a defendant who committed his offense within the period of alleged unconstitutionality has standing to challenge the constitutionality of statute.

Florida Statutes are not required to conform to the single subject provision, because the single subject provision applies only to chapter laws. <u>State v. Combs</u>, 388 So. 2d 1029 (Fla.

1980). Once reenacted, a chapter law is no longer subject to challenge on the grounds that it violates the single subject provision of Article III, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution.

State v. Johnson, 616 So.2d 1, 2 (Fla. 1993). The reenactment of a statute cures any infirmity or defect. State v. Carswell, 557 So. 2d 183, 184 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Honchell v. State, 257 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 1972); Alterman Transport Lines, Inc. v. State, 405 So. 2d 456 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). Thus, with single subject issues an important question is whether the incident being prosecuted arose prior to the constitutional problem being cured by reenactment.

In Bortel v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2259 (Fla. 4th DCA September 29, 1999), the court specifically held that the passage of chapter 96-388 closed the window to raise single subject attacks on chapter 95-184 effective October 1, 1996. Accordingly, because Bortel's crime occurred after October 1, 1996, the court rejected Bortel's attack on the 1995 sentencing guidelines. In Salters v. State, 731 So.2d 826 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), rev. granted, case no. 95,663, the State argued that Salters could not challenge the constitutionality of chapter 95-182 (the "Gort Act"), as Salters committed the offense after October 1, 1996, the effective date of Chapter 96-388 Laws of Florida, which cured, or mooted any single subject problem of Chapter 95-182. The Fourth District agreed with the State's argument and found that Salters did not have standing to challenge the statute. Salters properly held that the petitioner did not have standing to challenge the constitutionality of the

chapter 95-182. Similarly, the State urges this Court to follow Bortel and Salters and hold that the window period for raising single subject claims closed on October 1, 1996. Accordingly, since Petitioner's offense of March 1997 occurred outside the window period of Chapter 95-184, this Court should hold that he does not have standing to challenge the amendments to the sentencing guidelines made by chapter 95-184.

The position of the Fourth District is supported by both case law and logic. In Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 1991), this Court found a single subject violation occurred when the legislature combined workers compensation legislation with international trade legislation. In determining the effective dates, this Court held that the problem was cured by the legislature in a special session reenacting the legislation in a manner which separated these two distinct concepts. Id. at 1169. Thus, this Court has recognized that the biennial reenactment of the statutes is not the only way to close the window. The State asserts that what happened in this case is analogous to what transpired in Scanlan. In the 1996 legislative session, the

¹The State did not present this argument to the First District. However, the trial court imposed sentence and the First District affirmed Petitioner's sentence. The State, as appellee/respondent, can argue for affirmance of the lower court based on any ground supported by the record. See Dade County School Bd. v. Radio Station WQBA, 731 So. 2d 638, 645 (Fla. 1999)("an appellee, in arguing for the affirmance of a judgment, is not limited to legal arguments expressly asserted as grounds for the judgment in the court below. It stands to reason that the appellee can present any argument supported by the record even if not expressly asserted in the lower court.").

legislature reenacted the sentencing guidelines portion of chapter 95-184 relevant to Petitioner without including the objectionable civil damage provisions. Applying <u>Scanlan</u>, the legislative action should be held to have cured the problem. Therefore, the State maintains that this Court should follow the decision of the Fourth District and hold the window period ended on October 1, 1996.

Approving this cure would be an appropriate resolution of the problems presented by any single subject violation. This Court has long held that the purpose of the single subject provision is to prevent logrolling. Scanlan, 582 So. 2d at 1172; State v. Lee, 356 So.2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978). The evil that the single subject provision protects against is the attaching of unrelated legislation onto popular measures, thereby, bootstrapping the passage of the unrelated legislation upon the popularity of the primary legislation. Advisory Opinion to the Atty. Gen. re Fish and Wildlife Conservation Com'n, 705 So.2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1998). When a statutory section created in this manner is ratified by subsequent legislative reenactment, any prior "logrolling" has been mooted.

It is also appropriate to hold that the subsequent modification and readoption cures a single subject problem because of other constitutional requirements placed on the passage of legislative bills. Article III, Section 6, Fla. Const. requires when a bill is passed which amends a law in existence, that the sections being amended must be set out in

full. By complying with the constitutional requirements, the legislature reenacts the statutory provision when it makes modifications. In this case, the legislature reenacted the relevant provisions of the sentencing guidelines by passage of chapter 96-388, Laws of Florida. Thus, the State maintains that the date of October 1, 1996, closes the window period for the purposes of a single subject challenge to the sentencing guidelines.

The other reason that the problem is cured by subsequent legislation is obvious. A criminal defendant must be sentenced in accordance with the law in effect when he committed the crime. When a statutory section is modified, a defendant is not prosecuted or sentenced under the original statute, but, under the version in effect at the time of the commission of the crime. Thus, for those individuals who committed their crimes after October 1, 1996, the governing law is Chapter 96-388, Laws of Florida. As to them, Chapter 95-184 Laws of Florida and its manner of passage is irrelevant.

This Court should hold that Petitioner's sentence is governed by chapter 96-388, Laws of Florida, and hold that Petitioner lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of chapter 95-184. Accordingly, the trial court and the district court should be affirmed.

Petitioner has not challenged the constitutionality of chapter 96-388 here. However, <u>Salters</u>, which does present the issue, has been briefed in this Court and is pending as case number 95,663.

III. Preservation

As Petitioner acknowledges (IB 8), his claim was not preserved in the trial court. The State recognizes that State v. Johnson, 616 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1993), holds that single subject violations are fundamental errors and may be raised for the first time on appeal but continues to maintain that Johnson erred in so holding. However, if this Court does not recede from Johnson and finds that Petitioner has standing to challenge the constitutionality of chapter 95-184, Petitioner can raise the claim in this case pursuant to Johnson.

IV. Constitutionality of Chapter 95-1842

The Petitioner contends that the enactment of Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida, violates the single subject rule and is therefore unconstitutional. The argument is without merit because a reasonable and rational relationship exists between all of the sections of the act.

A. Presumption of Constitutionality

Legislative acts are strongly presumed to be constitutional.

See State v. Kinner, 398 So. 2d 1360, 1363 (Fla. 1981). Courts should resolve every reasonable doubt in favor of the constitutionality of a statute. Florida League of Cities, Inc.

V. Administration Commission, 586 So. 2d 397, 412 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). An act should not be declared unconstitutional unless it

²The argument regarding the constitutionality of chapter 95-184 is the same argument the State presented to this Court in Trapp.v. State, Case No. 96,074, currently pending before this Court.

is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Todd v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 643 So. 2d 625, 627 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Single subject challenges, like all constitutional challenges, are governed by these principles. <u>State v. Physical Therapy Rehabilitation</u>

<u>Center of Coral Springs, Inc.</u>, 665 So. 2d 1127, 1130 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996)(noting, in the context of a constitutional challenge to a statute alleging a defective title, that a presumption exists in favor of the validity of the statute).

B. Standard of Review

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law to be reviewed on appeal de novo. See United States v. Cardoza, 129

F.3d 6, 10 (1st Cir. 1997); United States v. Bailey, 115 F.3d

1222, 1225 (5th Cir. 1997); United States v. Wilson, 73 F.3d 675, 678 (7th Cir. 1995); United States v. Crawford, 115 F.3d 1397, 1400 (8th Cir. 1997); United States v. Michael R., 90 F.3d 340, 343 (9th Cir. 1996). An appellate court reviews the constitutionality of all statutes, including sentencing statutes, de novo. United States v. Quinn, 123 F.3d 1415, 1425 (11th Cir. 1997). Thus, the standard of review is de novo. See also Phillip J. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice § 9.4 (2d Ed. 1997).

C. <u>Merits</u>

The single subject provision, Article III, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution, provides that "[e]very law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title." The purpose of

this constitutional prohibition against a plurality of subjects in a single legislative act is to prevent "logrolling." Scanlan, 582 So. 2d at 1172; Lee, 356 So. 2d at 282. However, an act may be as broad as the legislature chooses to make it provided the matters included in it have a natural or logical connection.

Chenoweth v. Kemp, 396 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 1981); Board of Public Instruction v. Doran, 224 So. 2d 693, 699 (Fla. 1969). Broad and comprehensive legislative enactments are not in violation of the single subject provision. See Smith v. Department of Insurance, 507 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1987). The test to determine whether legislation meets the single subject provision is based upon a common sense application. Id. at 1087.

Historically, courts have accorded great deference to the legislature in the single subject area, recognizing that the rule affords the legislature wide latitude in its enactment of laws. State v. Lee, 356 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1978); State v. Leavins, 599 So. 2d 1326, 1334 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Examples abound where this Court has held that acts covering a broad range of issues do not violate the single subject provision. The single subject provision is not violated when an act provides for the decriminalization of traffic infractions and also creates a criminal penalty for willful refusal to sign a traffic citation. State v. McDonald, 357 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 1978). This provision was also not held to have been violated where an act covered both automobile insurance and tort law, Lee, nor was it violated where an act dealt with a broad range of topics dealing with medical

malpractice and insurance since tort litigation and insurance reform have a natural or logical connection. Chenoweth v. Kemp; Smith v. Department of Insurance. Similarly, an act establishing a tax on services which included an allocation scheme for use of tax revenues was deemed not to have violated the single subject provision. In re Advisory Opinion to the Governor, 509 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1987). Finally, this Court has found that an act dealing with comprehensive criminal regulations, money laundering, and safe neighborhoods was valid since each of the areas addressed bore a logical relationship to the single subject of controlling crime. Burch v. State, 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990).

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